

WILTSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES OF THE WILTSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING HELD ON 21 NOVEMBER 2013 AT SALISBURY ROOM - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE.

Present:

Chief Executive or Chairman Bath RUH (James Scott), Gareth Bryant (Wessex Local Medical Committee), Debra Elliott (NHS England), Patrick Geenty (Wiltshire Police Chief Constable), Carolyn Godfrey (Corporate Director Wiltshire Council), Chief Executive or Chairman Salisbury Hospital (Peter Hill) Chief Executive or Chairman Great Western Hospital (Nerissa Vaughan),

Cllr Keith Humphries (Cabinet member Public Health, Protection Services, Adult Care and Housing), Angus Macpherson (Police and Crime Commissioner), Cllr Laura Mayes, (Cabinet member for Childrens Services) Cllr Jemima Milton (Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Public Health), Maggie Rae (Corporate Director Wiltshire Council), Dr Stephen Rowlands (Vice Chairman and CCG Chairman), Cllr Jane Scott OBE (Chairman and Leader of the Council) and Deborah Fielding (Chief Officer CCG)

Also Present:

lan Biggs (NHS England), David Bowater (Senior Corporate Support Officer Wiltshire Council), Cllr Chris Caswill (Wiltshire Councillor), James Cawley (Associate Director Wiltshire Council), Frances Chinemana (Consultant Public Health Wiltshire Council), Cllr Christine Crisp (Chairman Health Select Committee), Julia Cramp (Associate Director Wiltshire Council), Dr Ian Ellison-Wright (Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership), Patti Harrison (Wiltshire Parent Carer Council), Denise Jones (South Western Ambulance Service), Maggie McDonald (Senior Scrutiny Officer Wiltshire Council), Cllr John Noeken (Vice Chairman Health Select Committee), Margaret Sheather (Chair WSAB), Geoff Shone (NHS England), Emma Townsend (Specialist Commissioning and Safeguarding Team Wiltshire Council), Robin Townsend (Associate Director Wiltshire Council), Steve Wheeler (Healthwatch Wiltshire)

18 Chairman's Welcome, Introduction and Announcements

The Chairman welcomed all to the meeting and provided the following announcements:

 The RNIB Eye Pod Simulator was outside County Hall. All were encouraged to attend where possible as the Pod provided a good insight into the various eye conditions and what services were available. The Pod was on site until 6pm.

- Christine Graves, Healthwatch Wiltshire representative on the Board, had been taken into hospital and was unable to attend the meeting. The Chairman extended the best wishes of the Board for a speedy recovery.
- The CQC would be re-inspecting Bath RUH in December and would also be undertaking public meetings on Thursday 5 December at the following two locations:

Bath Racecourse – 6:30pm County Hall, Trowbridge – 6:30pm

The agenda had been republished to incorporate the following amendments:

Item 10 – Safeguarding Boards Annual Report – a revised report in relation to the Wiltshire Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report was provided.

Item 14 – Adult Autism Self Assessment – this had been moved to the end of the agenda.

19 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from:

Christine Graves (Healthwatch Wiltshire)
Dr Toby Davies (CCG Chair of SARUM Group)
lain Tully (Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership)
Cllr Ian Thorn (Opposition Group)

20 Minutes

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 September 2013 were signed and approved as a correct record.

21 **Declarations of Interest**

There were no declarations of interest received.

22 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

This item was moved forward on the agenda whilst the Board awaited the arrival of Ian Biggs (Area Director, NHS England) for the 'Call to Action' item 5.

The Board at its previous meeting held in September 2013 formally agreed the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and requested a progress report on the work currently underway in relation to its delivery.

In addition the Board had also requested that an easy read version of the document be prepared to ensure the content of the Strategy was communicated

effectively. Thanks were given to the Associate Director for Communications and Communities for the preparation of the branded document in conjunction with colleagues within the authority and CCG.

The Associate Director provided hard copies for consideration by Board members and confirmed that it captured the essence of the strategy and its main priorities in a plain English format.

Deborah Fielding, CCG, confirmed that the item linked well with the presentation that would follow on 'A Call to Action' and congratulated the Communications team at Wiltshire Council for its preparation, noting the easy to read format.

The Chairman confirmed the importance of releasing the document at the earliest opportunity to highlight the work being undertaken and the priorities identified. With this in mind all were requested to provide any feedback to the Wiltshire Council Communications team within the next 7 days.

The Associate Director for Communications and Communities was working with the CCG to develop a communications plan. This would include the circulation of the Strategy which would be disseminated within the county to public locations, such as libraries, GP surgeries, leisure centres, etc.

The Chairman thanked the Associate Director again for the preparation of the document and looked forward to seeing the finalised version shortly.

Resolved:

That the Board:

- 1) Note the progress made on joint activity to deliver Wiltshire's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy;
- 2) Agrees to a full annual report by the end of 2014 to inform any update of Wiltshire's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy; and
- 3) Requests that any comments in relation to the plain English version of the document be provided to the Associate Director, Communications and Communities within the next 7 days from this meeting.

23 A Call to Action (NHS England)

Noting that in June 2013 NHS England had announced the start of a strategic process led by NHS England in partnership with Clinical Commissioning Group (CCGs), Health and Wellbeing Boards (HBSs) and national partners, a request was made at the last meeting of the Board for a presentation to be made providing further details on the NHS 'Call to Action'.

lan Biggs (Area Director, NHS England) was in attendance to provide a presentation on 'Call to Action' in conjunction with Deborah Fielding (Chief Officer Wiltshire CCG) and Maggie Rae (Corporate Director, Wiltshire Council).

In making the presentation, Ian Biggs confirmed that 'Call to Action' was a sustained programme of engagement to seek the views of patients, the public, staff and stakeholders to assist with future planning of services to reflect the needs of the population, within the funding available.

In drawing the Board's attention to the projected resources available up to 2020/21 it was noted that a financial gap of approximately £30bn would exist in order to meet the population needs. An ageing society, an increase in long-term conditions and lifestyle risk factors would all provide further financial pressures on the system.

Recommendations for improvement already existed with the release of key documents (such as the Bruce Keogh report and Berwick review); it was acknowledged that further changes would be required.

The way in which healthcare was delivered would need to be organised in such a way that services supported primary care and met the needs of the patient within the community itself. A significant shift in future resource was likely to provide services that allowed patients to remain at home where possible. This would meet the needs of the patient, reduce financial pressures and the associated pressures on hospitals.

Promoting healthier life paths and driving a preventative rather than reactive approach to healthcare would be required. This would be achieved by giving service users a greater control over their health and moving away from a one size fits all model of care.

Deborah Fielding confirmed that Wiltshire was in a strong position in comparison with many other areas, noting the preventative measures already in place. This would be emphasised further with the support of the clinical executive who would continue to focus on local services, policy development and planning.

Noting the financial implications a severe winter could have on resources, information on the preparations of all three hospital trusts in the area, Primary Care, Wiltshire Council the Community and Medvivo WMS was highlighted.

As part of ongoing consultation, NHS England has requested CCGs to lead on the development of a local 5 year plan, noting that financial planning in the past has been arranged in one or two year blocks. Wiltshire CCG were currently in the second year of their 'Clear and Credible' Plan and were currently working up commissioning intentions for 2014/15 which would be announced shortly. The

5 year plan would run from 2014/15 to ensure an overlap with the 2014/15 Delivery Plan.

Key assumptions had been used in relation to the Medium Term Financial Plan which included an expected tariff inflation of 2.9% per annum (now expected to be 2.1%). This was likely to put further pressure on acute services, noting that each were already required to continue with 4% efficiency savings year on year.

The growth in allocation was also likely to reduce to 1.8% in 2015/16 from 1.9% in 2014/15, below inflation. This would need to be taken into account with the 10% running costs of commissioning organisations and would again result in further pressures.

In highlighting the Medium Term Financial Plan it was noted the significant change to the Integrated Transformation Fund (ITF) allocation which, in 2015/16 would have approx £20m ringfenced from the budget for primary care, community care and social care purposes.

To help drive the 5 year plan workshops were currently being planned with the CCG facilitators at Attain, the first of which took place on 29 October with the CCG governing body, NHS England and senior officers of the Council to agree the approach. A programme of workshops would start in earnest in January/February 2014.

Joint challenges in the future included:

- The need to get better at preventing disease
- Giving patients greater control of their own health
- Noting the 4,000 additional military personnel with families rebasing to Wiltshire by 2020
- The need to maintain services close to home
- Managing with reduced resources with increased needs
- The impact of specialist commissioning national service specifications
- The need to support Primary Care in its delivery

Maggie Rae, Corporate Director Wiltshire Council, concluded the presentation by reiterating the need of future service integration to ensure services remained fit for purpose and to ensure the best service was provided for the future. The vision was in line with that of the Council and which was outlined within the authority's Business Plan.

The Chairman and Corporate Directors on the Board had recently attended a conference where the message of Wiltshire being in a stronger position than most was also highlighted.

The Chairman fully supported the need of continued joined up working and for a focus on prevention measures to remain a priority to ensure a sustainable

future. In line with this the support of local communities and the voluntary sector would be required in the future.

A national group undertaking research on national barriers to integration was noted. Wiltshire CCG was one of only four in the country accepted into the pilot scheme.

Resolved:

That the Board note the work being undertaken to engage the public and stakeholders alike in the Call to Action process.

24 **Health and Social Care Integration**

At its previous meeting the Board requested to receive an update on work being undertaken for future integration of commissioning and services delivery between Wiltshire Council Adult Social Care services and Wiltshire CCG.

Deborah Fielding presented the report which included a proposed approach to commissioning and set out key governance steps to ensure effectiveness was enhanced.

A working group has been established reporting initially to the Joint Commissioning Board for Adults' Services, to help develop future integration plans, including to outline plans for the Integration Transformation Fund (ITF). Although this would not come into full effect until 2015/16 there was a clear expectation from central government that CCGs and local authorities should have a two-year plan in place from March 2014.

The report proposed that a report on the two-year integration plans be presented to the Board in March 2014. However it was noted that these were to be submitted to NHS England at that time and therefore the report should be brought back for the Board's consideration in January 2014 to ensure any comments received could be incorporated.

During discussion clarification was also sought on the outcome of conversations taking place between CCG and NHS England with regards to Community Services Transformation, as highlighted at the previous meeting of the Board. It was noted that a paper was to be presented to the CCG on Tuesday the following week. The Board would be provided with details on the outcome of this meeting in due course.

Resolved:

That the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1) Note the developments in respect of integration of health and social care services; including:

- The ongoing development of a shared vision
- The establishment of an officer working group reporting to the Joint Commissioning Board (JCB) and shared principles for joint commissioning
- The drafting of a Joint Business Agreement (JBA) to provide a framework for all existing and new joint arrangements
- The ongoing development of proposals for joint commissioning of learning disabilities services and mental health services, which will be reported back to the Board for decisions in early 2014
- Community transformation development
- The work towards planning for the Integration Transformation Fund (ITF)
- 2) Receive a report at its meeting in January 2014 on the plans for use of the Integration Transformation Fund (ITF) ahead of its submission to NHS England in March 2014.
- 3) Endorse the commitment to a shared intent to move towards the further joint commissioning of community services and authorise the Joint Commissioning Board (JCB) to develop next steps in terms of:
 - The scope of services to be jointly commissioning or aligned
 - Recommending any organisational/structural changes required to support joint commissioning
 - Setting out performance monitoring and review frameworks
- 4) Note the pending decision of the CCG Governing Body on 26 November 2013 regarding tendering options for community health services and that the Board is updated on the outcome of this meeting in due course.

25 Winterbourne View progress report

The Board at its previous meeting in September considered a joint update from Wiltshire Council and Wiltshire CCG on progress made in relation to the Department of Health (DoH) report 'Transforming Care: a National Response to Winterbourne View Hospital' and resolved to receive a further update at its next meeting.

An update report was duly presented by James Cawley, Associate Director Wiltshire Council who highlighted that the report was as a result of the CQC visit which had asked all involved to respond accordingly on how they were to progress joint commissioning issues in addition to the outcome of individual cases.

The Board noted the report which included a stock take on progress made as well as work still to be undertaken in relation to future integration of service. Reassurance was also given that the care needs of former residents were being met in the most appropriate way.

The Chairman thanked the officer for the report and requested that the Board receive future regular updates.

Resolved:

That the Board would receive a further update report in May 2014.

26 **Public Health Annual Report**

The Public Health Annual report, which highlighted public health activity for 2012/13, was presented by Maggie Rae, Corporate Director Wiltshire Council.

Confirmation was given that the integration of public health was at the heart of all public services and was one of the 12 objectives identified within the Wiltshire Council Business Plan to help deliver the 3 priorities of the authority.

The report had been presented to the Wiltshire Council Cabinet in September and would be presented to the CCG Board at its next meeting in November.

It was hoped that the document would be distributed widely. With this in mind it was proposed that distribution should take place alongside that of the easy read version of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

27 Safeguarding Boards Annual Reports

Attendees were reminded that the agenda had been republished to incorporate a revised report in relation to the Wiltshire Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report which would now be brought to the Board for consideration in January 2014.

James Cawley, Associate Director Wiltshire Council, and Margaret Sheather, Independent Chair of the Wiltshire Safeguarding Adults Board, were welcomed to the meeting to present the WSAB Annual Report, copies of which were available at the meeting and electronically.

The Independent WSAB Chairman was pleased to be able to present the 2012/13 report to the Board noting that the previous year's annual report had been considered by the Board in its shadow form. With this in mind it was acknowledged that the HWB was the natural partner to which the Safeguarding Adults Board reports.

The Board were asked to note the progress made in terms of the WSAB's responsibilities which had continued even with the continued change and financial pressures faced by public services.

The WSAB would also soon be on the same statutory footing as the WSCB following changes made in the Care Bill. Further details in relation to the outcome of regulations and resulting guidance were awaited whilst the Bill moved through parliament.

The Board was fully supportive of the work undertaken by the WSAB and thanks were given to the Independent Chairman in attendance for the report.

Resolved:

- 1) That the Board note the report provided; and
- 2) That the Wiltshire Safeguarding Adults Board (WSAB) accepts the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) as the partnership to which it reports.

28 End of Life Care

The Secretary of State for Health had written to Health and Wellbeing Boards alerting them to a review of the End of Life Care Strategy and requesting that each consider the Strategy within their own Joint Strategic Assessment (JSA) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).

Wiltshire's JHWS already includes a range of activity on end of life planning and coordination. In addition a strategy group was drafting a revised Strategy for Wiltshire which was expected to be available for discussion in January 2014.

The Chairman, in noting the positive work being undertaken to ensure an effective Strategy, stressed the importance of also ensuring delivery of the service and the aspirations for Wiltshire to be the best provider of that service.

In considering care provided, the Board expressed concern with the number of people that were still admitted to hospital at the end of life and were supportive of a system that with the right support would allow patients to be at home, noting that patient choice remained at the heart of care provided.

Deborah Fielding confirmed that a CCG working group of experienced individuals had already been established to consider end of life care provided. It was therefore proposed noting that Deborah Fielding was a lead on this group that it should be asked to consider the current approach to end of life care in Wiltshire and report back to the Board by March 2014. All were in favour of this request.

Resolved:

That the CCG working group would review the approach to end of life care in Wiltshire and report its findings to the Board at its meeting in March 2014.

29 Commissioning Services for Armed Forces

From April 2013 NHS England was tasked with ensuring the delivery of better outcomes for patients within its available resources, including the commissioning of health services for armed forces members and their families registered with Defence Medical Services Medical Centres.

Debra Elliott, NHS England, had requested that the Board consider a report outlining where joint commissioning responsibility lies and requesting that the Board approve the proposed plans within.

The Chairman, before handing over to Debra Elliott, confirmed the pertinence of the report, noting the rebasing of approximately 4,000 armed forces personnel in Wiltshire by 2020.

Debra Elliott confirmed that NHS England would be responsible for the commissioning of services for armed forces members and their families, with the CCG taking responsibility for non registered and veteran personnel.

Noting the plans for army rebasing in Wiltshire and the services that would be needed, discussions had already commenced between NHS England, Wiltshire Council and the CCG on how these would be delivered.

To ensure adequate consideration of the health and wellbeing services that would be required it was proposed that joint commissioning be discussed at the Military Civilian Integration Partnership (MCIP) hosted by Wiltshire Council, to agree a joint commissioning plan.

During discussion the important work of the Armed Forces Network was raised and it was agreed that this should have been identified within the report.

In order to identify at as early a stage as possible the requirements of personnel moving back to the UK, officers had been in discussion with families based in Germany with further contact planned.

Deborah Fielding, CCG, confirmed that a similar venture had been undertaken with Gloucester Council the previous year and was therefore fully supportive of this approach.

Discussions were also taking place with all 3 acute hospitals and these would be taken into consideration as part of the joint commissioning plans.

Resolved:

That the Board acknowledge that joint commissioning of services will be discussed at the Military Civilian Integration Partnership (MCIP) hosted by Wiltshire Council with the objective of developing and agreeing a joint commissioning plan for armed forces personnel and their families who are currently or will be residing in Wiltshire.

30 **Governance arrangements**

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a number of important relationships with other governance structures, including the Council, safeguarding boards and joint commissioning boards for adult and children services.

To allow the Board to undertake its work effectively, it is important that all partners have a shared understanding of its role and that of the differing boards responsible for varying aspects of health and wellbeing in Wiltshire.

Noting the significant changes in governance arrangements as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 of which were outlined and endorsed within a report to Full Council in May 2013, a report to the Board outlining the current governing arrangements was presented by Robin Townsend, Interim Associate Director Wiltshire Council.

Upon consideration of the report, it was noted that the Terms of Reference for the Joint Commissioning Board required updating in light of the report to full council which outlined the relationship between the Commissioning Board and Health and Wellbeing Board. Further clarity was also sought on how the Board undertook future work planning.

Resolved:

- That details of the work identified by the Health and Wellbeing Board for future consideration would be shared with members of the Board and Health Select Committee for comment; and
- 2) That a revised report on governance arrangements would be presented to the Board at a later date to reflect any developments since consideration of the report to Full Council in May 2013.

31 Adult Autism Strategy Self Assessment

The Department of Health (DoH) was leading a formal review of progress against the Adult Autism Strategy. As part of this process local authorities had been contacted and asked to take forward a second self assessment exercise to be submitted to the DoH as part of the review.

The findings of the assessment, undertaken by the Wiltshire Autism Partnership, were presented in the report which the Board was asked to support.

Patti Harrison, Wiltshire Parent Carer Council (PPCC) representative on the Wiltshire Autism Partnership, was welcomed to the meeting to present the report. In doing so, Patti confirmed her support for the multi-agency approach to developing the Wiltshire Strategy and the work being undertaken by the authority to spread awareness.

Emphasis was put on the funding and support available, noting that ongoing support for those leaving education was required to ensure next steps toward independence could be achieved.

Adults of all ages were now able to access a diagnostic service. Although this was a positive step forward, the next stages post diagnosis were equally important with suggestions discussed on how this could be improved which included:

- The publication of material providing frequently asked questions and details of available support services;
- Follow up appointments to allow for the digestion of information by those diagnosed, noting that there were likely to be many questions once diagnosis was made.

Noting that within the children's services department a post diagnostic pack was being developed, it was proposed that this could perhaps also be adapted for use by adults.

An attending Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership (AWP) representative (commissioned by the CCG to provide diagnostic services within Wiltshire) would feed back the comments of the meeting to the respective officers for due consideration.

Resolved:

That the Health and Wellbeing Board was fully supportive of the direction that the Wiltshire Autism Partnership was taking.

32 <u>Urgent Items</u>

There were no urgent items considered.

33 <u>Date of Next Meeting</u>

The next meeting of the Board would take place at 3pm on Thursday 16 January 2014 and would be held at Great Western Hospital Lecture Hall, Swindon.

(Duration of meeting: 3:00 pm - 5:15 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Sharon Smith, of Democratic & Members' Services, direct line 01225 718378, e-mail SharonL.Smith@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115